BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED

I.

Whether

the

Trial

Court

erred

in

denying

both

of

Defendant's Motions to Exclude Evidence even though relevant case
law required the exclusion of the evidence, a statement made to
Probation

and

Parole,

as

well

as
1

the

statement’s

derivative

evidence, in question?
Trial Court Answered: No

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled.
Arguments need to be presented in more detail in oral argument.
Therefore, oral argument and publication are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Gregory Sahs was charged in a two Count Criminal
Complaint dated June 28, 2008. This Complaint charged Defendant
with Possession of Child Pornography, contrary to Wis. Stats.
948.12(1m) & (3)(a). Essentially, Defendant was alleged to have
possessed a computer that contained two photo recordings of child
pornography. Law enforcement determined that the photos had been
captured on two separate dates. Each Count applied to each photo
recording. (2:1-2).
An initial appearance occurred on July 3, 2008. At that time,
the Court Commissioner informed the Defendant of the maximum
possible penalties. (22:2-3).
On July 24, 2008, Defendant waived his preliminary hearing.
After this waiver, the Court Commissioner bound Defendant over for

2

trial. At that time, the State filed a Criminal Information. This
Information contained the two original Counts originally charged in
the Criminal Complaint. At that time, the Defendant entered pleas
of Not Guilty to both Counts. (24:2-3; 6:1).
On October 27, 2008, Defendant filed two Motions to Exclude
Evidence. His first Motion to Exclude Evidence sought to exclude
statements
allegedly

that

Defendant

admitting

to

provided

the

conduct

to

his

alleged

probation
in

the

officer
Criminal

Complaint. (7:1-7).
Defendant’s second Motion to Exclude Evidence

sought to

exclude all evidence obtained by law enforcement after obtaining
the Probation and Parole statement. This was derivative evidence.
According to this second Motion, Defendant’s probation officer
provided this statement to law enforcement. Law enforcement then,
as a result of this statement, obtained a search warrant, seized
Defendant’s computer, and obtained a custodial statement. Defendant
sought to exclude this evidence as illegally obtained derivative
evidence. (8:1-3).
On

November

10,

2008,

the

State

filed

its

Response

to

Defendant’s Motions. (9:1-10).
On December 17, 2008, the trial court orally denied both of
Defendant’s Motions to Exclude Evidence. The trial judge was John
Franke. (25:6-16). The trial court later issued a written Order
Denying Defendant’s Motions to Exclude Evidence. This Order was
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dated January 12, 2009. The trial judge that signed this written
Order was Jeffrey Conen. (10:1).
On February 9, 2009, Defendant changed his plea to that of
Guilty as to Count One, pursuant to plea negotiations. The State
agreed to dismiss and read in Count Two and not to issue any other
charges out of this case. Finally, the State agreed to recommend
the

presumptive

mandatory

minimum

of

three

years

initial

confinement with the defendant free to argue. (26:2). After a plea
colloquy, the trial court convicted Defendant of Count One and
adjourned sentencing. (26:10-11).
On April 30, 2009, the trial court sentenced Defendant to
seven years prison, consisting of three years initial confinement
plus four years extended supervision. The trial court issued a
written Judgement of Conviction on May 4, 2009. (28:29-30; 18:1-2).
Defendant

timely

filed

his

Notice

of

Intent

to

Pursue

Postconviction Relief. (19:1).
Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal in a timely fashion. This
Brief is being submitted pursuant to the schedule established by
the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Defendant Gregory Sahs was charged in a two Count Criminal
Complaint dated June 28, 2008. This Complaint charged Defendant
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with Possession of Child Pornography, contrary to Wis. Stats.
948.12(1m)

&

(3)(a).

Essentially,

the

Complaint

alleged

that

Defendant possessed a computer that contained two photo recordings
of child pornography. Law enforcement determined that the photos
had been captured on two separate dates. Each Count applied to each
photo recording. The Complaint also indicated that the Defendant
had given a statement admitting to that the computers belonged to
him, that he had downloaded the material, that he did know the
sexually explicit nature of the material, and that the material
related to children. (2:1-2).
An initial appearance occurred on July 3, 2008. At that time,
the Court Commissioner informed the Defendant of the maximum
possible penalties. The Commissioner informed the Defendant that
there was a presumptive minimum sentence of three years. (22:2-3).
On July 24, 2008, Defendant waived his preliminary hearing.
After this waiver, the Court Commissioner bound Defendant over for
trial. At that time, the State filed a Criminal Information. This
Information contained the two original Counts originally charged in
the Criminal Complaint. At that time, the Defendant entered pleas
of Not Guilty to both Counts. (24:2-3; 6:1).
On October 27, 2008, Defendant filed two Motions to Exclude
Evidence. His first Motion to Exclude Evidence sought to exclude
written and oral statements that Defendant had provided to his
probation officer allegedly admitting to the conduct alleged in the
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Criminal

Complaint.

The

Motion

indicated

that

Defendant

had

provided these statements to his probation agent on January 12,
2007. The Defendant’s rules of supervision required that he make
these statements to his probation agent or face revocation of his
probation.
Because

The

the

revocation

written

Defendant
of

his

statement
had

to

probation,

contained

make
the

those

this

notification.

statements

statements

were

or

face

compelled,

testimonial, and incriminating. Therefore, exclusion was required.
(7:1-7).
The first Motion indicated that Defendant had been placed on
probation for three years in 2005. This, after a conviction of
Possession of Child Pornography out of Waukesha County. Standard
rules of probation included providing true and correct information
when asked, submitting to polygraphs, and full cooperation with sex
offender treatment. (7:1).
The

first

Motion

also

indicated

that

Defendant

had

participated in sex offender treatment as part of his probation
rules of supervision. On December 15, 2005, he had failed a
polygraph test on the question of whether he had broken any of his
rules of supervision. The treatment provider temporarily expelled
Defendant from the sex offender treatment program. Defendant’s
agent had been informed of this test result as well as Defendant’s
perceived noncompliance with treatment. Another polygraph had been
scheduled for January 13, 2007. (7:1-2).

6

On January 12, 2007, Defendant attended a meeting with his
probation agent, Michael Krause. He made oral statements that Mr.
Krause noted in writing. The statements contained admissions to
having accessed child pornography again on a personal computer that
he had at a friend’s house. The written statement was on a standard
Department of Corrections form with a box checked off next to the
following notification:

“I have been advised that I must account in a true
and accurate manner for my whereabouts and activities,
and that failure to do so is a violation for which I
could be revoked. I have also been advised that none of
this information can be used against me in criminal
proceedings.”

The notification was at the top of the written statement. A
checked box appeared in front of this notification.
Agent Krause took Defendant into custody and revoked his
probation. (7:2).
The State’s Response also acknowledges that Agent Krause, and
not

the

Defendant,

wrote

the

entire

written

statement

on

a

Department of Corrections form. (9:2).
Defendant argued that Defendant’s January 12, 2007 statements
to Agent Krause had been compelled, were testimonial, and were
incriminating.

Therefore,

these

statements

were

inadmissible.

(7:6).
Defendant’s

second

Motion

to
7

Exclude

Evidence

sought

to

exclude all evidence obtained by law enforcement after obtaining
the Probation and Parole statement. According to this second
Motion, Agent Krause provided Defendant’s information obtained in
statements to law enforcement. These were the written and oral
statements made on January 12, 2007, as discussed in Defendant’s
First Motion to Exclude Evidence. Law enforcement then, as a result
of these statements, obtained a search warrant, seized Defendant’s
computer,

and

obtained

a

custodial

statement.

The

custodial

statement related to the statements that Defendant had made to
Agent

Krause.

Law

enforcement

obtained

all

of

this

evidence

entirely due to the statements that Defendant had made to Agent
Krause, and Agent Krause’s subsequent passing on of the information
to law enforcement. Defendant sought to exclude this evidence as
illegally

obtained

derivative

underlying

original

statements

evidence.
provided

This,

to

because

the

Krause

were

Agent

inadmissible, as argued in Defendant’s first Motion to Exclude
Evidence. (8:1-3).
On

November

10,

2008,

the

State

filed

its

Response

to

Defendant’s Motions. (9:1-10).
On December 17, 2008, the trial court orally denied both of
Defendant’s Motions to Exclude Evidence. The trial court determined
that

the

statements

were

not

compelled.

(25:8).

The

court

determined that the Defendant had initiated the January 12, 2007 by
calling his agent. The court concluded that the Defendant had
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volunteered the information that he had been violating the rules,
to include using a friend’s computer to download images of child
pornography. The court found these facts to be undisputed. The
court denied suppression of these statements to Agent Krause, based
upon

these

facts.

Accordingly,

the

trial

court

also

denied

suppressing the fruits of those statements. (25:11-12). The court
found that the facts were insufficient to show compulsion and,
therefore, suppression was not warranted. (25:16).
On December 17, 2008, the trial court also indicated that,
simply because an agent might revoke is not enough to establish
compulsion. (25:14).
Here, the trial court insufficiently considered the written
notification at the top of the January 12, 2007 statement. This
notification was that “I have been advised that I must account in
a truthful and accurate manner for my whereabouts and activities,
and that failure to do so is a violation for which I could be
revoked.” There is a checked box in front of this notification.
Defendant’s First Motion to Exclude refers to this notification.
The

State’s

Response

does

not

deny

the

existence

of

this

notification. Clearly, this notification creates a requirement for
probationers to provide information. Or, the probationer reasonably
believes

that

revocation

will

occur.

Whether

or

not

this

information must be in response to a probation agent’s questions is
irrelevant, under this notification. This notification does not so
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limit the warning.
Furthermore,

under

the

notification

of

the

January

12

statement, failure to provide information creates the possibility
of revocation. This is a threat that compels the providing of the
statement. To threaten revocation is to threaten a loss of freedom.
Clearly, this notification compels the statement. The statement is,
therefore, legally compelled. This, regardless of whether or not
Defendant

voluntarily

contacted

his

agent

to

schedule

an

appointment, and voluntarily appeared at this appointment. Contrary
to

the

trial

appointment,

court,
but

in

the
the

compulsion
providing

does
of

not

the

occur

in

statement.

the

Here,

Defendant’s statement was compelled.
Furthermore, the trial court ignores the process in the taking
of the written statement itself. Agent Krause himself wrote out the
written

statement,

with

the

notification

box

checked,

on

a

Department of Corrections form. Clearly, Defendant did not have a
choice in the matter. The notification required that Defendant
provide the statement. This process clearly evidences compulsion.
This,

once

again,

regardless

of

whether

or

not

Defendant

voluntarily scheduled, and subsequently appeared at, the meeting.
The

trial

court

later

issued

a

written

Order

Denying

Defendant’s Motions to Exclude Evidence. This Order was dated
January 12, 2009. The trial judge was Jeffrey Conen. (10:1).
Defendant subsequently pled guilty to one Count of the two
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Count Criminal Information. The trial court eventually sentenced
him to seven years prison, to consist of three years initial
confinement plus four years extended supervision. (28:29-30).
Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal in a timely fashion. This
Brief is being submitted pursuant to the schedule established by
the Court.

ARGUMENT

I.
DEFENDANT’S JANUARY 12, 2007 STATEMENT WAS COMPELLED.
THEREFORE, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT’S SUPPRESSION
MOTION. FURTHERMORE, ALL SUBSEQUENT DERIVED EVIDENCE SHOULD HAVE
ALSO BEEN SUPPRESSED.

A.
The Trial Court Erred in Denying Defendant’s First Motion to
Exclude Evidence.
A written statement to a probation agent that contains the
provision that the probationer must “account in a truthful and
accurate manner for my whereabouts and activities, and that failure
to

do

so

is

a

violation

for

which

I

could

be

revoked,”

is

compelled. Furthermore, the State has the burden of showing that
such statements are not compelled. The Defendant does not have this
burden. In re. Mark, 308 Wis.2d 191, 747 N.W.2d 727 (Ct.App. 2008).
Mark was a case that involved sexually violent commitment
proceedings under Wis. Stats. 980. However, the Court of Appeals
indicated that a respondent at a 980 commitment trial had the same
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rights as a defendant in a criminal case. Therefore, a respondent’s
statement to a parole agent is properly excluded under the Fifth
Amendment

privilege

against

self-incrimination

if

it

is

testimonial, compelled, and incriminating. Id. at 199. Accordingly,
this case applies to criminal cases.
Here, no party is disputing that Defendant’s January 12, 2007
statement is both testimonial and incriminating. The only issue
presented by the parties, and discussed by the trial court on
December 17, 2008, was the issue of compulsion. Accordingly, this
Brief will only discuss the matter of compulsion.
In Mark, the State offered into evidence at a Wis. Stat. 980
jury trial both a written and an oral statement provided by Mark to
his parole agent. The written statement, signed by Mark, was on a
form at the top of which was printed:

“PROBATION/PAROLE OFFENDER I have been advised that
I must account in a truthful and accurate manner for my
whereabouts and activities, and that failure to do so is
a violation for which I could be revoked. I have also
been advised that none of this information can be used
against me in criminal proceedings...”

This is the exact notification present on the top of the
January

12, 2007 statement at issue in this present matter.

In Mark, the Court of Appeals concluded that the State had the
burden of showing that the written statement was not compelled. The
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Court discussed the written provision at the top of that statement.
The Court discussed this provision as creating a perception on the
part of Mark that he had an obligation to give a true and accurate
account in order to avoid a revocation. The Court found important
his thinking that he had an obligation to provide a true and
accurate account in order to avoid a revocation. His perception
created the compulsion. Based upon this statement, the Court
concluded that this statement had been compelled. Id. at 208.
The Court in Mark did not base its conclusion as to compulsion
on who asked the questions, or how the process of taking the
written statement commenced. According to the Court’s holding, the
written

notification

supports

a

finding

of

compulsion;

the

probationer must provide a true and accurate statement in order to
avoid a revocation. The perception that the probationer must
provide a true and accurate account in order to avoid revocation is
clearly crucial. Whether or not revocation occurs is not the test.
The

Court’s

holding

in

Mark

rebuts

the

trial

court’s

conclusion that simply because an agent might institute revocation
is

not

sufficient

probationer’s

to

establish

perception,

and

not

coercion.
the

As

actual

discussed,

the

commencement

of

revocation proceedings, is crucial to a finding of compulsion. The
perception is the test.
Here, as discussed, the trial court insufficiently considered
the written notification on the top of the January 12, 2007
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statement. This notification is identical to that present in Mark.
Defendant’s First Motion to Exclude refers to this notification.
The State’s Response does not deny its existence. Clearly, as
indicated in Mark, this notification creates a requirement for
probationers

to

provide

information.

Whether

or

not

this

information must be in response to a probation agent’s questions is
irrelevant, under this notification. Mark essentially states that
this notification does not so limit its warning. The notification
creates the compulsion.
Furthermore, under the provision of the January 12 statement,
failure

to

provide

information

creates

the

possibility

of

revocation. This is a threat that compels the providing of the
statement. To threaten revocation is to threaten a loss of freedom.
Clearly, a probationer thinks that failure to provide the statement
will lead to revocation. This perception compels the statement. The
notification creates the perception. Therefore, according to Mark,
the statement is, therefore, compelled. This, regardless of whether
or not Defendant voluntarily contacted his agent to schedule an
appointment, and voluntarily appeared at this appointment. Contrary
to

the

trial

appointment,

court,
but

in

the
the

compulsion
providing

does
of

the

not

occur

statement.

in

the

Here,

Defendant’s statement was compelled.
Furthermore, the trial court ignores the process in the taking
of the written statement itself. Agent Krause himself wrote out the

14

written

statement,

with

the

notification

box

checked,

on

a

Department of Corrections form. Both parties agreed as to such a
process.

Logically,

Defendant

did

not

have

a

choice.

The

notification required that Defendant provide the written statement.
Therefore,

this

process

clearly

evidences

compulsion.

This,

regardless of whether or not Defendant voluntarily scheduled, and
subsequently appeared at, the meeting.
Based upon the foregoing, Defendant’s January 12, 2007 written
statement to Agent Krause was compelled. The trial court erred in
concluding otherwise. It must be suppressed.

B.
Because the January 12, 2007 Statement had been Compelled, the
Derivative Evidence must also be Suppressed.
The Fifth Amendment protection at trial also precludes the
Government

from

presenting

evidence

that

is

the

result

or

derivative use of compelled statements. The prosecution cannot use
the compelled evidence in any respect, to include any evidence
derived either directly or indirectly from such evidence. Kastigar
vs. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 92 S.Ct. 1653, 32 L.Ed.2d 212
(1972), New Jersey vs. Portash, 440 U.S. 450, 99 S.Ct. 1292, 59
L.Ed.2d 501 (1979); In re. Mark, 308 Wis.2d 191 at 213-214.
Once a Defendant establishes that a statement is compelled,
the

Government

has

the

burden

of

showing

that

it

had

an

independent, legitimate source for the disputed evidence. There is
an affirmative duty on the prosecution to prove that the evidence
15

that it proposes to use is derived from a legitimate source wholly
independent of the compelled statement. Kastigar vs. United States,
406 U.S. 441 at 453, 460.
Here, the sole source of the law enforcement’s evidence, to
include the computer and Defendant’s custodial statement, was the
January 12, 2007 compelled statement to Agent Krause. Even the
State’s Response acknowledges that the sole source of the police
department’s information concerning the content of the statement
arrived

from

Agent

Krause.

The

State

indicates

that,

upon

completion of the taking of the statement, Agent Krause took
Defendant into custody and initiated revocation proceedings. Then,
Agent Krause notified the appropriate police department regarding
the Defendant’s statements. Shortly thereafter, on January 24,
2007, law enforcement recovered the computer. On January 25, 2007,
law enforcement obtained a custodial statement from the Defendant
while he was in custody. On February 1, 2007, the Detective
obtained a search warrant and examined the computer. Finally, the
police Detective re-interrogated the Defendant on June 26, 2007.
(9:2-3).
There is no legitimate, independent source for the evidence
that law enforcement obtained in this matter. The sole source for
all of this evidence is Defendant’s compelled January 12, 2007
statement to Agent Krause. Accordingly, this Court must suppress
all of this evidence.
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CONCLUSION

The

trial

court

erred

in

denying

Defendant’s

Motion

to

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