RECEIVED

01-17-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2009AP2916-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GREGORY M. SAHS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, UPHOLDING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SARAH K. LARSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030446

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Murphy, 465 U.S. at 429 (witness must assert privilege if "confronted with questions" that government reasonably believes would elicit incriminating answers).

In other words, Sahs was never subjected to the classic penalty situation in which he faced the unconstitutional dilemma of either foregoing the privilege and answering incriminating questions under compulsion, or invoking his privilege to remain silent and being penalized by the threat of revocation for doing so. *Spaeth*, 343 Wis. 2d 220, ¶¶47-48 (penalty situation only exists when defendant's assertion of privilege penalized, so as to foreclose free choice to remain silent).

Murphy itself makes clear that Sahs was not subjected to a classic penalty situation foreclosing Sahs' free choice to remain silent. In Murphy, the United States Supreme Court rejected the argument that the threat of revocation for untruthfulness is, itself, sufficient to give rise to the penalty situation. Murphy, 465 U.S. at 434 (State may not impose penalties if witness elects to exercise right to remain silent; but threat of revocation for untruthfulness is insufficient).

The *Murphy* Court noted, in *dicta*, that <u>if</u> the probationer is made to answer questions that would incriminate him, and <u>if</u> the State expressly or by implication asserted that the probationer's invocation of the right to remain silent would lead to his revocation, then the classic penalty situation may arise wherein the failure to assert the privilege is excused and the probationer's answers would be deemed compelled and inadmissible. *Id.* at 435.

But the *Murphy* Court nevertheless made clear that, in order for this penalty situation to exist, the lower courts must have some <u>evidence</u> of the extra, impermissible step. *Id.* at 436-37. For example, the High Court held that lower courts must inquire whether the defendant's probation conditions "merely required him to appear and give testimony about matters relevant to his probationary

status," or whether "they went farther and required him to choose between jeopardizing his conditional liberty by remaining silent." *Id.* at 436. The Court went on to hold that, because Minnesota did not take the extra, impermissible step, the defendant's privilege in *Murphy* itself was not self-executing. *Id.*

Similarly, the Court also held that, on the record before it, there was "no reasonable basis for concluding that Minnesota attempted to attach an impermissible penalty to the exercise of the privilege against self-incrimination," because there was no "direct evidence that Murphy confessed because he feared that his probation would be revoked if he remained silent." Id. at 437 (emphasis added).

Here, as in *Murphy*, there was no such <u>direct</u> <u>evidence</u> before either lower court that the State took the constitutionally impermissible extra step, because there was no <u>direct evidence</u> before either lower court that Sahs feared his probation would be revoked if he remained silent in the face of incriminating questions. *Id*.

Further, as in *Murphy*, there was no <u>direct evidence</u> that Sahs was expressly informed during the meeting that an assertion of his privilege to remain silent would result in the imposition of the penalty. *Id.* at 438. To the contrary, the circuit court explicitly found Sahs did not make any of his statements in response to questions (25:11 [R-Ap. 123]); and there was no evidence Sahs knew of other people being revoked for refusing to answer questions or that Sahs himself had been threatened with revocation in order to compel his oral statement (25:16 [R-Ap. 128]).

Indeed, the circuit court distinguished various hypothetical situations in concluding the classic penalty situation did not exist in Sahs' case:

[T]he possibility of being revoked because you won't talk might create a compulsion. But simply the fact that an agent might do it is not enough.

... [W]hat is clear is that there has to be something more than the vague threat [of revocation]. Is it enough that the witness know that it's a threat? I don't think so. Clearly if a defendant says "I don't want to talk about that" and the agent says "if you don't talk, I'll get an apprehension warrant faster than you can say 'revocation,'" then arguably there's a compulsion and then the defendant may have to answer because he's required to, but then those statements are then protected.

Similarly, if a probationer says "I don't want to talk about it" and the probation officer says "Well, you have to talk about it" and the probationer says "I'm invoking my Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination," then we have issues that are different than what we have here.

... [But] [a]s far as can be gleaned from the facts, [Sahs] was a routine probationer. There's no evidence that he knew of other people being revoked for refusing to answer questions or that he had been threatened with revocation. He voluntarily requested the meeting and voluntarily made disclosures. And under the caselaw, this is clearly not enough to establish compulsion.

(25:14-16 [R-Ap. 126-128]) (emphasis added). 18

In sum, *Murphy's* classic penalty exception does not apply here, because there was no evidence Sahs was forced to choose between foregoing his Fifth Amendment privilege by answering incriminating questions, or invoking the privilege and jeopardizing his conditional liberty by remaining silent in the face of that incriminating questioning. *Spaeth*, 343 Wis. 2d 220, ¶¶47-48; *Murphy*, 465 U.S. at 435-36.

¹⁸The circuit court further held that, unlike in *Mark II*, there was no need to remand for further fact-finding, because the parties had stipulated to the facts necessary for the court to render its decision (25:3, 8, 16 [R-Ap. 115, 120, 128]).

3. In the absence incriminating questioning, neither Sahs' own internal motivation to confess, nor his subjective perception of compulsion, rendered Sahs' oral statement compelled.

Sahs' also argues the alleged threat of a polygraph constituted compulsion, because he knew he would be required to take a polygraph the next day, and that he would fail it, thereby placing him within *Murphy's* classic penalty exception (Sahs' brief at 5, 11-12, 22). Sahs therefore concludes his own subjective perception of the threat of revocation was sufficient to constitute compulsion (*id.*). But neither the facts of this case in particular, nor the polygraph cases in general, supports Sahs' arguments.

Although there was a stipulation that Sahs had been terminated from his sex offender group based on his answers to a previous polygraph and pre-polygraph testing on December 15, 2006 (7:1-2 [R-Ap. 101-102]; 9:1-2 [R-Ap. 108-109]; 25:9-10 [R-Ap. 121-122]), he had already been re-admitted to the group (*id.*), and there was no such stipulation or other evidence in the record that another polygraph was scheduled for January 13, 2007. The court of appeals makes no reference to the alleged January 13, 2007 polygraph test.

Further, other than Sahs' bald allegations in his trial brief (7:2, 6 [R-Ap. 102, 106]), there is no evidence

¹⁹Sahs' trial brief contended another polygraph was scheduled for January 13, 2007 (7:2 [R-Ap. 102]), and the circuit court noted, "[t]he parties represent that another polygraph was set for January 13" (25:10 [R-Ap. 122]). The State's trial brief, however, does not mention the alleged January 13, 2007 polygraph.

in the record that Sahs <u>knew</u> a second polygraph had allegedly been scheduled at the time he called his agent in early January to set up the January 12, 2007 meeting. Nor is there any evidence—save Sahs' bald allegation—that Sahs even subjectively <u>felt</u> compelled to confess by the threat of the alleged second polygraph.

This lack of evidence distinguishes Sahs from *Spaeth*, which was based on the parties' concession—as well hearing suppression testimony documentation—that the defendant knew he could face revocation if he did not comply with the polygraph. Spaeth, 343 Wis. 2d 220, ¶¶5-9, 49 & n.6, 53, 58 (defendant signed polygraph consent form, defendant's probation agent testified defendant was aware that polygraph results and any statements he made could not be used against him in criminal prosecution). Unlike in Spaeth, here there was no direct evidence to substantiate Sahs' conclusory allegation that he believed he would fail the polygraph, allegedly scheduled for the next day.

Sahs cites to *Mark III* in arguing his own subjective perception of these alleged threats—the alleged threat of revocation, and/or the alleged threat of a mandatory polygraph—was sufficient to constitute compulsion (Sahs' brief at 20-22). Upon first blush, *Peebles*, 330 Wis. 2d 243, ¶¶3-5, also appears to support Sahs' contention.

Neither *Mark III* nor *Peebles*, however, actually holds a defendant's mere subjective <u>perception</u> of the threat of revocation or threat of a mandatory polygraph is, itself, sufficient to constitute compulsion. Rather, there must be some other evidence, besides the defendant's subjective belief, which proves compulsion existed.

For example, *Mark III* held this other evidence of compulsion was the probation agent's testimony that she had explained the revocation warning to the defendant before he gave his written statement. *Mark III*,

308 Wis. 2d 191, ¶¶24-25. Similarly, *Peebles* was predicated upon other evidence that the incriminating admissions arose because the defendant was, in fact, subjected to incriminating questioning during mandatory polygraph testing. *Peebles*, 330 Wis. 2d 243, ¶¶3-5, 20.

Thus, although the defendant in *Peebles* testified he knew he could be revoked for not answering truthfully in response to inquiries by the agent, or for not submitting to the mandatory polygraph testing, *id.* ¶¶3-5, the compulsion in *Peebles* was based upon the fact that the defendant was, in fact, subjected to mandatory polygraph testing in which he was asked incriminating questions about other offenses. *Id.* ¶¶5, 20.

In other words, contrary to Sahs' contention, compulsion cannot be based upon the defendant's subjective belief alone. If it were, a defendant would be able to exclude any admissions to his probation agent, every time, merely based on his own bald testimony that "I felt compelled to confess." Such a result is contrary to this court's holding in *Spaeth*. *Spaeth*, 343 Wis. 2d 220, ¶67 (Fifth Amendment not intended to permit offenders to game the system by confessing all past wrongs during routine probation visit).

Such a result is also contrary to this court's rationale in *State v. Brockdorf*, 2006 WI 76, ¶¶16, 43, 291 Wis. 2d 635, 717 N.W.2d 657, an analogous *Garrity*²⁰ immunity case. In *Brockdorf*, this court held that, regardless of the defendant's subjective belief of the threatened penalty, her subjective belief was not objectively reasonable, and did not deprive her of her right to make a "free and reasoned decision to remain silent,"

²⁰Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493 (1967). Garrity immunity arises from another of Murphy's "classic penalty situations" wherein a police officer's incriminating statement, given during an internal investigation, must be suppressed because it is compelled by threat of termination of employment. Brockdorf, 291 Wis. 2d 685, ¶17-18.

absent an express threat of the penalty. *Id.* ¶43. In other words, the defendant's subjective perception of the threatened penalty was insufficient to constitute compulsion. *Id.*

So too, here, Sahs' alleged subjective belief that he would fail the alleged polygraph was insufficient to constitute compulsion, for two reasons: First, there was not even any evidence of this subjective belief (save his conclusory allegations); and second, there was no evidence that Sahs was forced to give responses in answer to incriminating questions posed to him under the threat of that alleged polygraph or during polygraph questioning itself. *Peebles*, 330 Wis. 2d 243, ¶¶3-5, 20.

Indeed, Sahs' decision to come in voluntarily and confess his crimes—<u>before</u> he was allegedly required to do so—is the very essence of voluntariness. Sahs' internal motivation to tell the truth, at most, demonstrated that Sahs wanted to abide by his probation rules. But Sahs' probation rules did not require or compel him to come in and tell the truth unless he was <u>asked</u> incriminating questions (25:9 [R-Ap. 121]), either by his probation agent or by a polygraph examiner.

Any number of reasons could hypothetically exist as to why Sahs decided to come in and spontaneously confess. The record supports an inference that Sahs' may have just wanted to come clean (7:2 [R-Ap. 102]; 28:4, 15). Or, as Sahs argues now, he may have subjectively felt pressured to come in and prospectively pre-empt himself from further polygraph testing, knowing he would fail the polygraph because he had engaged in illegal activities. On the other hand, however, Sahs may have just wanted to ingratiate himself to his agent, figuring that if he stayed one step ahead, maybe his agent would be lenient.

But Sahs' subjective motivation to avoid being caught in a lie is insufficient to constitute compulsion under *Murphy*. *See Brockdorf*, 291 Wis. 2d 635, ¶43

(defendant's only compulsion to give statement was that she realized she had been caught in a lie, and concluded her best course of action was to confess to the truth, rather than continuing to lie or remaining silent). And any self-serving hope for leniency Sahs may have had is also insufficient to render his statements compelled. *See Ohio Adult Parole Authority v. Woodard*, 523 U.S. 272, 287-88 (1998) (death row inmate's self-imposed pressure to speak at voluntary clemency review in hopes of improving his chances at clemency did not render interview compelled).

This court, however, need not speculate as to the reasons why Sahs made the decision to come and spontaneously confess, because the record only supports one conclusion: Sahs (for whatever reason) made the decision to spontaneously and voluntarily confess to his crimes before he was compelled to—thereby avoiding the situation where he was, in fact, compelled to confess in response to incriminating questions. Such a decision demonstrates exactly why Sahs' oral statement was voluntary and admissible, rather than compelled and inadmissible.

As the Seventh Circuit astutely remarked in *United States v. Cranley*, 350 F.3d 617 (7th Cir. 2003):

It is always something of a puzzle why criminals confess. Probably Cranley realized that the [authorities] had the goods on him and so would nail him even if he clammed up, but that if he confessed he might get points for having cooperated. No matter. His failure to assert his Fifth Amendment privilege forfeited it

Id. at 623.

E. Because Sahs oral statement was not compelled and Sahs failed to invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege, Sahs' oral statement and all his subsequent statements were properly admitted in the criminal prosecution against Sahs.

As noted above, the threshold issue in this case—whether Sahs' initial, oral statement was compelled—is also dispositive of the case. Because Sahs' initial, oral statement here was volunteered during a routine visit with his probation officer (*i.e.*, it was not compelled), Sahs' subsequent statements—his written statement to police, as well as his three later *Mirandized* statements to police—were all admissible as well, and could be used in the prosecution against Sahs. *Spaeth*, 343 Wis. 2d 220, ¶67.

Spaeth and Murphy are both clear on this point. Id. (if statement to probation agent is not compelled, it is not covered by Fifth Amendment privilege; it may be shared with law enforcement; and it may be used in a criminal prosecution). See also Murphy, 465 U.S. at 440 (because defendant revealed incriminating information instead of timely asserting Fifth Amendment privilege, his disclosures were not compelled incriminations, and he could not successfully prevent information he volunteered to his probation officer from being used against him in criminal prosecution).

Even if Sahs' later written statements were somehow compelled by the alleged written notification—an assumption <u>not</u> borne out by this record—the contents of Sahs' written statements were cumulative to his earlier, non-compelled oral statement. Thus, the admission of the written statements were harmless error, if error at all. *Mark II*, 292 Wis. 2d 1, ¶34 (admission of compelled statement subject to harmless error analysis); *Mark III*,

308 Wis. 2d 191, ¶10 (appellate courts should remand for harmless error analysis).

II. SAHS IS NOT ENTITLED TO EVANS/KASTIGAR IMMUNITY FOR ANY OF HIS STATEMENTS, BECAUSE NONE OF HIS STATEMENTS WERE GIVEN IN RESPONSE TO INCRIMINATING OUESTIONS.

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